ILIN 25 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

ROY DWAYNE THOMASON,
Petitioner,

CASE NO. 79,705

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

Anthony C. Musto
P. O. Box 16-2032
Miami, Fl. 33116-2032
305-285-3880
Florida Bar No. 207535

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Roy Dwayne Thomason, was the defendant in the trial court and appellant on appeal. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee on appeal. The parties will be referred to in this brief as "Defendant" and "the State." The symbol "R" will constitute a reference to the record on appeal. The symbol "SR" will constitute a reference to the supplemental record filed in the district court of appeal. The symbol "T" will constitute a reference to the trial transcript filed with the district court of appeal in case no. 90-2394, and adopted by previous order of that court as a part of the record in the present case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 17, 1988, Defendant was charged by information in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida with one count of armed kidnapping, two counts of armed sexual battery and one count of aggravated assault (R 15).

Trial began on March 5, 1990, at which time the State nolle prossed the aggravated assault count. The trial ended with the declaration of a mistrial over the objection of both Defendant and the State.

Subsequently, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss and for Discharge (R 46-56), asserting that there had existed no manifest necessity for the mistrial and that it would therefore constitute

double jeopardy to retry him. The State filed a written response to the motion (R 57-58).

At the hearing on the motion $(SR\ 1-22)$, the parties stipulated to the facts set forth in the motion and to the trial transcript $(SR\ 4)$.

The stipulated facts from the motion were as follows:

On March 5, 1990, trial commenced in this cause. Trial continued throughout March 6th and 7th and on the afternoon of March 7th, the State rested (Transcript, hereinafter referred to as "T", 460-461). Subsequently that afternoon, seven defense witnesses were called and testified. Six completed their testimony.

At approximately 5:45 p.m. (T 612), while the seventh defense witness was testifying on direct examination, Defendant's attorney became very white and shaky and was physically supported by the prosecutor (T 612).

As a result of Defendant's counsel's illness, the court adjourned the proceedings for the evening (T 603).

The next morning, March 8th, when trial was scheduled to resume (T 603), Defendant's counsel collapsed in her office and, when this fact was made known to the court, the jury was excused for the day (T 612).

On the following morning, March 9th, Defendant's counsel was present in court and indicated her readiness to proceed (T 608). She stated that upon completion of the testimony of the witness that was on the stand, the only other witness that might be called by the defense would be Defendant (T 609).

Defendant personally indicated his confidence in his attorney's ability to proceed and the fact that he did desire to proceed (T 634-636).

Despite these statements from Defendant and his attorney, the court expressed concern

¹The judge to whom this case was assigned and who presided at the trial was the Honorable Mel Grossman. The motion was heard and ruled on by the Honorable William P. Dimitrouleas, in light of an order entered by Judge Grossman removing himself from consideration of the motion. Defendant's plea was ultimately entered before the Honorable Leroy Moe.

over resuming the trial in light of Defendant's counsel's physical condition and the lack of any assurances from a doctor that Defendant's counsel was capable of proceeding (T 612-616, 636-641). The court referred to a phone call his secretary had received from the secretary of a doctor Defendant's counsel had known for years but who had not treated her during the prior few days to the effect that there ought to be a postponement to allow Defendant's counsel to attend to her personal medical needs (T 614).

With regard to assurances from doctors, Defendant's counsel told the court that she had discussed the court's desire for assurances with one of the doctors who had treated her the previous two days; that the doctor indicated that he felt that she was fine, and that he would not have released her otherwise; and that the doctor provided her with his phone number for the court to speak with him (T 642-643). She also indicated that she had attempted to reach the other doctor who had treated her, had been unable to do so, but would try to do so again if the court would give her 30 minutes or so (T 642-643).

Obviously concerned about the court's prosecutor repeatedly misgivings, the expressed the opinion that if the court ordered a mistrial, double jeopardy would preclude a retrial (T 616-619). prosecutor asked that if the court was concerned with Defendant's counsel's health, it postpone the case rather than order a mistrial (T 617, 652). He also noted that the case would be over after the parties finished with the witness on the stand, Defendant, if testified, and possibly one he rebuttal witness (T 652).

Both the defense (T 643) and the prosecution (T 652) specifically objected to a mistrial.

The court then called as a witness Hilliard Moldof, an attorney. He testified that he had observed Defendant's counsel that morning and thought "perhaps" she was not realizing that "she was a bit inappropriate" for not having recognized that her client was in the courtroom, that his feeling was that she "might" have still been under some type of medication, that he had "some concerns" about the ability to go forward and that he would want to make sure that she felt capable of going forward (T 654-656).

The comment on Defendant's presence was a reference to the fact that at one point during hearing, counsel was unaware Defendant was present (T 611). The events that led up to that occurrence, apparently unknown to Mr. Moldof, included the fact that prior to the hearing beginning, Defendant's counsel had noticed that Defendant was not present and had asked that he be brought immediately to the courtroom (T 611); the fact that Defendant's counsel left the courtroom after the request, engaging in what the court described as a "flurry of activity outside the courtroom (T 614)," in an effort to obtain the medical assurances the court wanted (T 611, 642-643); and the fact that Defendant's counsel came back into the courtroom when the case was called and therefore immediately begin addressing the court without looking to the box, which was behind her and which was where Defendant was located (T 611, 638, 655).

The hearing ended when the court declared its belief that based "on the court's observations of and the appearance and demeanor of counsel during the course of the trial today," it had no other choice but to declare a mistrial (T 657-658).

(R 46-49)

The trial court denied the Motion to Dismiss and for Discharge (R 59-61).

A Petition for Writ of Prohibition was then filed in the Fourth District Court of Appeal (case no. 90-2394). The petition asserted that the double jeopardy provisions of both the United States and Florida Constitutions barred Defendant's retrial and that the trial court should be prohibited from proceeding in the cause. After the filing of a response and a reply to the response, the petition was denied without opinion.

Following the denial of the petition, Defendant entered a plea of nolo contendere to the charge of armed kidnapping and to two counts of aggravated battery, as lesser included offenses of the armed sexual battery counts (R 3). Adjudication was withheld and

Defendant was placed on probation for five years, with credit for the time spent in custody prior to the entry of the plea (R 3). Defendant also specifically reserved his right to appeal and to have reviewed the denial of his Motion to Dismiss and for Discharge (R 3). Both sides agreed that the issue involved was dispositive of the case (R 7-8). The plea was accepted (R 11) and its terms were imposed by the court (R 11-12, 76-77).

Without opinion, and by a 2-1 vote, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the order placing Defendant on probation. Thomason v. State, 594 So.2d 310 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Judge Stone wrote a specially concurring opinion and Judge Farmer wrote a dissenting opinion. On rehearing, the court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

UNDER WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES MAY A TRIAL JUDGE SUA SPONTE DECLARE A MISTRIAL, FREE OF DOUBLE JEOPARDY CONSEQUENCES, BASED ON HIS SUBJECTIVE IMPRESSION THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL IS NOT COMPETENT TO PROCEED?

594 So.2d at 318.

This proceeding follows.

POINT INVOLVED

ERRED IN DENYING TRIAL COURT WHETHER THE DISMISS AND DEFENDANT'S MOTION TÒ DISCHARGE ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS, WHEN A MISTRIAL HAD BEEN DECLARED OVER THE OBJECTION OF BOTH DEFENDANT AND THE STATE IN A SITUATION IN WHICH (1) THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT NOT CAPABLE DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL WAS BY COUNSEL'S CONTRADICTED PROCEEDING WAS PRESENCE IN THE COURTROOM, RESPONSIVENESS TO THE SITUATION AND ASSURANCES TO THE COURT AND BY THE FACT THAT A DOCTOR HAD ASSURED COUNSEL CAPABLE OF PROCEEDING; SHE WAS DEFENDANT PERSONALLY INDICATED A DESIRE PROCEED; (3) THE STATE'S ALREADY WEAK CASE HAD ALLEGED DEVASTATED BY THE THAT SHE THE TESTIMONY IDENTIFIED ALLEGED WEAPON BY THE INITIALS PLACED ON IT BY A POLICE OFFICER SUBSEQUENT TO THE OFFENSES, AND; (4) THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO OTHER ALTERNATIVES HOLD CONSIDER OR EVIDENTIARY HEARING?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant contends that the trial court's proceeding further after the declaration of a mistrial over his objection and that of the State violated his right under the United States and Florida Constitutions not to be placed twice in jeopardy.

A mistrial declared under the circumstances of this case must be justified by objective factors and is proper only when no other alternative exists. The trial court here relied upon its own subjective impressions and not upon appropriate objective factors.

There simply existed no manifest necessity for the mistrial, as there must be in order for a defendant to be retried after a mistrial is declared over his objection.

The trial court here declared the mistrial because of its concern for the health of Defendant's counsel. This action was taken despite the fact that counsel was present in the courtroom; was responsive to the questions and comments of the court, the prosecutor and the witness; and assured the court that she was ready to proceed and that a doctor who was prepared to speak to the court by phone had told her that she was capable of proceeding.

Moreover, at the time the mistrial was declared, Defendant personally indicated his satisfaction with his counsel and his desire to proceed, a desire that is more than understandable in light of the fact that the State's case, a weak one to begin with, was devastated by the alleged victim's testimony that she recognized the knife allegedly used by Defendant by the initials on its handle, initials placed on the knife hours after the alleged offenses by the police officer that impounded it.

Given the facts of this case, there existed insufficient evidence to conclude that a manifest necessity existed for a mistrial. The trial court's action denied Defendant his valued right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal and was taken without the consideration of other alternatives that must be employed before it is appropriate to declare a mistrial over a defendant's objection and without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Thus, the trial court erred in its declaration of a mistrial and further proceedings beyond that point constituted double jeopardy.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND FOR DISCHARGE ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS, WHEN A MISTRIAL HAD BEEN DECLARED OVER THE OBJECTION OF BOTH DEFENDANT AND THE STATE IN A SITUATION IN WHICH (1) THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL WAS NOT CAPABLE OF PROCEEDING CONTRADICTED BY COUNSEL'S PRESENCE IN COURTROOM, RESPONSIVENESS TO THE SITUATION AND ASSURANCES TO THE COURT AND BY THE FACT THAT A DOCTOR HAD ASSURED COUNSEL THAT SHE CAPABLE OF PROCEEDING; (2) THE DEFENDANT PERSONALLY INDICATED A DESIRE TO PROCEED; (3) STATE'S ALREADY WEAK CASE HAD DEVASTATED BY THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S TESTIMONY THAT SHE IDENTIFIED THE ALLEGED WEAPON BY THE INITIALS PLACED ON IT BY A POLICE OFFICER SUBSEQUENT TO THE ALLEGED OFFENSES, AND; (4) THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO CONSIDER OTHER ALTERNATIVES OR HOLD AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Α

OVERVIEW AND CERTIFIED QUESTION

On March 9, 1990, Defendant Roy Dwayne Thomason, who had been incarcerated for the previous 14 and a half months despite having never been convicted of a crime, was just a few hours away from an almost certain acquittal and freedom.

The State's case, an extraordinarily weak one to begin with, had fallen apart during trial. Defendant thus had an extremely strong interest in exercising his right to have his case decided by the impaneled jury.

Defendant was denied that right, however, by the trial court's <u>sua sponte</u> declaration of a mistrial over the objection of Defendant himself, Defendant's attorney and the prosecutor. The court's action was based on its own subjective impression that Defendant's counsel, who had become ill during the trial, was not

competent to proceed. The mistrial was declared despite the fact that Defendant's counsel was present in the courtroom, and was responsive to the questions and comments of the court, the prosecutor and the witness. It was declared despite the despite the fact that Defendant's counsel assured the court that she was ready to proceed. It was declared despite the fact that Defendant's counsel indicated to the court that a doctor who was prepared to speak to the court by telephone had told her that she was capable of proceeding.

The fact that the court disregarded these objective factors and relied on its own subjective impressions led to the certified question in this case:

UNDER WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES MAY A TRIAL JUDGE SUA SPONTE DECLARE A MISTRIAL, FREE OF DOUBLE JEOPARDY CONSEQUENCES, BASED ON HIS SUBJECTIVE IMPRESSION THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL IS NOT COMPETENT TO PROCEED?

It does not appear that any Florida case has addressed this question on that any Florida case has even dealt with a double jeopardy issue arising from a mistrial declared due to the illness of defense counsel.

Nonetheless, consideration of the basic principles underlying the right not to be twice placed in jeopardy, cases from other jurisdictions and Florida cases dealing with illnesses of trial participants points to the answer expressed at the district court level, <u>Thomason v. State</u>, 594 So.2d 310, 317-318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), Farmer, J., dissenting, in the dissenting opinion of Judge Farmer.

To put it directly, the correct legal principle is that a trial judge may not declare a mistrial -- free of double jeopardy consequences -- on the basis of an alleged incapacity of defendant's counsel so near the end of the case where defense counsel is present in the courtroom asserting the ability to proceed, and both the State and the defendant expressly agree on the record that counsel is capable and should proceed. only exception should be where the record demonstrates without contradiction that the alleged incapacity is objectively verifiable. The alleged inability to proceed may not be based solely, or even substantially, on the subjective impressions of the trial judge, and it must be such that it cannot be cured or avoided by another alternative. The [United <u>States v.] Perez [9 Wheat. 579, 6 L.Ed 165</u> (1824)] standard cannot properly be applied to abort a criminal trial over the collective objection of everyone, where the "disabled" lawyer is in the courtroom proclaiming the readiness to proceed and none of the alternatives to a mistrial were considered or tried.

Applying this standard to the present case compels the conclusion that the mistrial should not have been declared and that Defendant was entitled to discharge on double jeopardy grounds.

В

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

It is well settled that when a mistrial is declared over the objection of a defendant, it constitutes double jeopardy to retry that defendant unless there existed a "manifest necessity" for the mistrial. <u>United States v. Dinitz</u>, 424 U.S. 600, 96 S.Ct. 1075, 47 L.Ed.2d 267 (1975); <u>United States v. Perez</u>, 9 Wheat. 579, 6 L.Ed 165 (1824). The power to declare a mistrial under such circumstances "ought to be used with the greatest caution, under

urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes." <u>Id.</u>, 9 Wheat. at 580, 6 L.Ed at 165.

This is because the constitutional protection against being twice placed in jeopardy embraces a defendant's valued right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal. Oregon v. Kennedy, 456 U.S. 667, 102 S.Ct. 2083, 72 L.Ed.2d 416 (1982); United States v. Dinitz, supra; Wade v. Hunter, 336 U.S. 684, 69 S.Ct. 834, 93 L.Ed. 974 (1949).

when a mistrial is declared over a defendant's objection, the burden of showing that the mistrial was justified by manifest necessity is a heavy one. Parce v. Byrd, 533 So.2d 812 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), rev. denied, 542 So.2d 988 (1989); State v. Collins, 436 So.2d 147 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), rev. denied, 434 So.2d 889 (Fla. 1983); Spaziano v. State, 429 So.2d 1344 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). Any doubt must be resolved "in favor of the liberty of the citizen." Downum v. United States, 372 U.S. 734, 738, 83 S.Ct. 1033, 1035, 10 L.Ed.2d 100, 104 (1963), quoting from United States v. Watson, 28 Fed.Cas. 499 (1868). A trial court's discretion is subject to the test of reasonableness which requires a determination of whether there is logic and justification for the result. Parce v. Byrd, 533 So.2d 812, 814 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), rev. denied, 542 So.2d. 988 (Fla. 1989).

In the present case, the heavy burden of showing that a mistrial was justified cannot be met. This is true for a number of reasons.

DEFENDANT'S VALUED RIGHT TO HAVE HIS TRIAL COMPLETED BY A PARTICULAR TRIBUNAL

In the first place, it is clear that Defendant personally wanted the trial to proceed. Moreover, not only did he express complete satisfaction with his attorney's condition, but he also had a compelling reason for wanting the case to be decided by the impaneled tribunal. The alleged victim testified that she was able to identify the knife that was allegedly used by the initials that she observed on it (T 266-269). The initials about which she testified, however, had been placed on the knife hours after the alleged crime by the police officer who impounded it (T 512-513). Thus, the credibility of the State's key witness had been severely damaged and Defendant had a strong interest in having the case decided by the jury that heard the witness' testimony in this regard, testimony that would not likely be repeated in a subsequent trial.

Defendant's interest in this regard was accentuated by the fact that the State's case was far from strong. It depended on the credibility of the alleged victim. That credibility was undermined not only by her testimony regarding the knife, but also by the testimony of Doctor Sudha Doshi. Doctor Doshi, who examined the alleged victim on the day of the alleged offense at the Broward County Sexual Abuse Treatment Center (T 532-533), testified that the tears she found in the alleged victim's vagina were old tears, not tears that occurred on that day (T 534-535), that she found no sperm (T 540), that the alleged victim had no abrasions or bruises

in the area of her genitalia or her thighs (T 536) and that the scratch mark on the alleged victim's shoulder was four or five days old (T 536).

Moreover, the alleged victim's statement to the police that the Defendant ejaculated in her mouth and that she then spit into an article of clothing (T 562) was undermined by the fact that no seminal fluid was found on the clothing (T 459) or on the swabs from the alleged victim's throat (T 554).

Although the court's decision to grant a mistrial appears to have been based on a commendable concern for the welfare of Defendant's counsel and for the ensuring that Defendant received effective representation in the waning stages of the trial, the choice between a mistrial to deal with those concerns and the valued right to have a trial completed by a particular tribunal is one that Defendant, not the court, had a right to make. Under such circumstances, the important consideration for purposes of double jeopardy is that a defendant retain primary control over the course to be followed. <u>Dinitz</u>, <u>supra</u>, 424 U.S. at 609, 96 S.Ct. at 1080; 47 L.Ed.2d at 275. Defendant here was not given that control, even though he made his wishes very clear and even though he had an extraordinary reason for wanting to proceed.

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