IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,705

ROY DWAYNE THOMASON,

Petitioner,

v.

FILED SID J. WHITE SEP 9 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By_____ Chief Deputy Clerk

017

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Joan Fowler Assistant Attorney General

James J. Carney Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar no. 475246 Assistant Attorney General ^L 111 Geogia Ave. Suite 204 West Palm Beach, FL 33401

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in granting the mistrial. His actions were not abrupt or erratic. He heard from the parties and considered all alternatives before taking action. The judge was concerned not only with representation received and the health of defense counsel, but also with the integrity of the system (i.e., the public's interest in fair trials designed to end in just judgments).

<u>POINT I</u>

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND FOR DISCHARGE ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS.

No mechanical rule exists for the determination of "manifest necessity." It is clear that the standard does not require that a mistrial be "necessary" "[i]n a strict literal sense." Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S. 497, 98 S.Ct. 824, 830-31, 54 L.Ed.2d 717 (1978) and United States v. Lynch, 467 F.Supp. 575, 578 (D.C. Dist.), <u>affirmed</u>, 598 F.2d 132 (D. C. Cir 1978), <u>cert. denied</u>, 440 U.S. 939, 99 S.Ct. 1287, 59 L.Ed.2d 498 (1979).

In Strawn v. State ex. rel. Anderberg, 332 So.2d 601 (Fla, 1976), the Fourth District found the defendant's double jeopardy claim meritorious. This Court reversed, stating:

The constitution does not guarantee a defendant a perfect trial (which would be difficult if not virtually impossible), but it does guarantee **a** fair trial. The trial judge is the man on the ground in full view **of** the premises. In the conducting of a complicated criminal trial, he finds it necessary to rule many times and, like the **referee** in an athletic contest, must rule quickly. Generally speaking, he has neither the time, convenient library, nor a staff to research each legal question with which he is confronted in a fast moving trial. It is, therefore, necessary that he be given broad discretion in disposing of such matters.

* * * *

The New Jersey Supreme Court in an exhaustive treatise on the subject, said; --

'As we have noted above, the double jeopardy protection does not mean that once an accused has been put on trial regularly, the proceeding must run its ordinary course to judgment of conviction or acquittal. The rule does not operate so mechanistically. If some unexpected, untoward. and undesigned incident or circumstance arises which_ does not bespeak bad faith, inexcusable neglect or_ inadvertence or oppressive conduct on the part of_ the State, but which in the considered judgment of the trial court creates an urgent need to discontinue the trial in order to safeauard the defendant against real or apparent prejudice_ stemming therefrom, the Federal and State_ Constitutions do not stand in the way of_ declaration of a mistrial. And this is true even if the conscientious act of the trial judge may be characterized as the product of "extreme_ solicitude" or "overeager solicitude" for the accused. See, Gori v. United States, supra, 367 U.S. at p. 367, 81 S.Ct., at p. 1525. Moreover, if an incident or circumstance of that nature moves the court to order a mistrial not only to safeguard the right of the defendant to a full and fair trial, but also to protect the right of society to have its trial processes applied fully and fairly in the due administration of the criminal law, there is even less basis for a claim of trespass upon the privilege against double jeopardy. . (emphasis supplied) .

Id. at 602-03, 604-05.

In Goodman V. State ex. rel. Furlong, 247 So.2d 47 (Fla. 1971), the district court found that retrial was barred by double jeopardy. The Florida Supreme Court reversed, stating:

In Adkins v. <u>Smith</u>, 205 So.2d **530** (Fla. **1968**), this Court held that, in determining what is a legally sufficient reason for granting a mistrial so as to permit a subsequent trial, <u>the trial court must be armed</u> with discretion since he is conducting the trial and familiar with circumstances, tensions and conditions_ which may be present in the courtroom.

As stated in Gori v. United States, 367 U.S. 364, 81 S.Ct. 1523, 6 L.Ed.2d 901 (relied upon by this Court in Adkins v. Smith, <u>supra</u>), the Supreme Court of the United States said:

"Since 1824 it has been settled law in this Court that the double jeopardy provision of the Fifth Amendment does not mean that every time a

defendant is put to trial before a competent tribunal he is entitled to go free if the trial fails to end in a final judgment.' Where, for reasons deemed compelling to the trial judge, who is best situated intelligently to make such a_ decision, the ends of substantial justice cannot be attained without discontinuing the trial, a_ mistrial may be declared without the defendant's consent and even over his objection, and he may be, retried consistently with the Fifth Amendment.

It is also clear that 'This Court has long favored the rule of discretion in the trial judge to declare a mistrial and to require another panel to try the defendant if the ends of justice will be *, ' Brock v. State of North best served Carolina, 344 U.S. 424, 427, 73 S.Ct. 349, 97 L.Ed. 456, and that we have consistently declined to scrutinize with sharp_surveillance the exercise of that discretion.

<u>Suffice that We are unwilling, where it clearly</u> appears that a mistrial has been sranted in the sole interest of the defendant, to hold that it's necessary conseauence is to bar all retrial. . *

*

In other words, the action of the trial court in declaring the mistrial should be held to be within his discretion and sustained unless the record clearly shows an abuse of discretion (emphasis supplied) Id. at 49.

*

See also Booker v. State, 514 So.2d 1079, 1085 (Fla. 1987) (defining what constitutes an abuse of discretion -discretion is abused only where no reasonable man could take the view adopted by the trial court); United States v. Von Spivey, 895 F.2d 176 (4th Cir. 1990) (trial court correctly granted mistrial upon illness of defense counsel); United States v. Wayman, 510 F.2d 1020, 1028 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, Moore V. United States, 423 U.S. 846, 96 S.Ct. 84, 46 L.Ed.2d 67 (1975) (same) and the cases cited in the trial court's order (R 59-60).

Here the trial court carefully weighed all the circumstances before granting the mistrial. He did not wish to do so, but felt that it was necessary to protect petitioner's rights, defense counsel and to protect the integrity of the system (T 613, 658).

Petitioner attacks the statement that the trial court "considered available alternatives (R 59-60)." The trial judge was obviously aware of the prosecutor's suggestion that the judge consider a continuance. However, the trial judge indicated that he was not only concerned with the remainder of the trial, but with the manner in which the trial had proceeded to that point (T 617). The latter could not be remedied by a continuance. Given defense counsel's bizarre behavior, juror bias was a real possibility.

As far as continuing the trial and seeing if problems arose, the trial judge was also concerned with defense counsel's health. Given her history, continuing the trial may have resulted in serious damage to defense counsel's health. <u>See also Abdi v. State of Georgia</u>, 744 F.2d 1500, 1503 (11th Cir. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 471 U.S. 1006, 105 S.Ct. 1871, 85 L.Ed.2d 164 (1985) (manifest necessity can exist alongside less drastic alternatives so long as record shows that trial court considered alternatives) and <u>Cherry v. Director, State Board of Corrections</u>, 635 F.2d 414, 419-20 (5th Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 454 U.S. 840, 102 S.Ct. 150, 70 L.Ed.2d 124 (1981) (a trial judge has acted within

his discretion in rejecting possible alternatives if reasonable judges could differ about the proper disposition, even where in a strict, literal sense, a mistrial is not necessary).

Petitioner also complains that manifest necessity has not been demonstrated because the trial judge did not hold an evidentiary hearing. As discussed above, the trial judge was present for the entire trial and able to observe defense counsel and the jury's reaction. The judge gave both sides an opportunity to present their positions. Testimony was received on the matter. Defense counsel was given an opportunity to present documentation from her doctors. She was told to present testimony of her doctor's, which she failed to do. It is clear the judge considered the alternatives (T 613-58). No abuse of discretion has been shown. <u>Cf. Abdi</u>, 744 F.2d at 1504 (trial judge did not abuse his discretion in granting mistrial even though decision was fast and he did not consult defense counsel). See also United States v. Cameron, 953 F.2d 240, 247 (6th Cir. 1992) (formal hearing not necessary to support finding of manifest necessity, citing Washinston, 434 U.S. at 516-17, 98 S.Ct. at 835-36).

Petitioner next complains of the portion of the order that states that the medical assurances that petitioner could continue were not forthcoming (R 58-60). He then argues that petitioner did assure the trial judge that her doctors said

she could continue. The trial judge told defense counsel the day before the mistrial that she would need to provide testimony from her doctors that she was fit to continue (T 641). Defense counsel agreed with that statement, but nonetheless failed to comply with the trial court's requirement (T 641).

Petitioner also complains of paragraph two of the order which states that defense counsel appeared in court in an agitated state, with a hospital band on her wrist, mistakenly called the Judge a doctor, said that there was no eacy way out, and did not notice that her client was in the courtroom (R 58-60). Her comment that there was "no easy way out" does not make much sense in light of the fact that she thought she was perfectly able to proceed. In such a case, the "easy way out" would be to continue with the trial. The trial judge found it significant that defense counsel walked right past her client and did not realize that he was present in the courtroom for at least ten minutes (T 611). A defense attorney, familiar with Ms. Morrison, also found her behavior to be odd (T 653-56). She walked past her client without noticing him (T 653-56).

It is uncontradicted that all the events recited in paragraph two occurred. Petitioner attempts to give possible explanations that might explain defense counsel's behavior. The trial judge was present at the time and observed petitioner's conduct. He is in the best position to judge

the behavior in its context. The judge properly concluded that the behavior mentioned in the order was not appropriate. Obviously, the written transcript cannot fully capture the conduct and appearance of defense counsel. An abuse of discretion has not been shown.

Paragraph three of the order states:

The Judge was presented information from Dr. Ginsburg that Ms. Morrison was under stress and had a history of heart problems (T. 623). Dr. Israel was quoted as saying that she needed to attend to her medical problems (T. 638).

(R 58-60).

The record indicates that Doctor Ginsburg did state defense counsel had been under a lot of stress (T 623). Defense counsel stated that her family had a history of heart problems. She stated that she and other members of her family suffered from tetracardia (T 621). Defense counsel spoke with Dr. Israel right before trial (T 622). She had been speaking with him over the last few weeks (T 628). Defense counsel apparently admitted that she saw Dr. Israel the day before the mistrial was granted or that she saw Dr. Jones and he did not believe she should return to trial (T 628). The trial judge received a phone call from Dr. Israel's office indicating that defense counsel should attend to her medical problems (T 614). The findings in the order are supported by the record. An abuse of discretion has not been shown.

Petitioner attacks paragraph four of the order which

states that the trial judge was concerned about defense counsel's health and the integrity of the system (R 58-60). The quality of the representation received by the defendant is directly related to defense counsel's health. Respondent does not agree with petitioner's statement that the integrity of the system should carry little weight in the trial judge's decision. See Strawn, 332 So.2d at 605 ("Moreover, if an incident or circumstance of that nature moves the court to order a mistrial not only to safeguard the right of the defendant to a full and fair trial, but also to protect the right of society to have its trial processes applied fully and fairly in the due administration of the criminal law, there is even less basis for a claim of trespass upon the privilege against double jeopardy. . .") and Illinois v. Sommerville, 410 U.S. at 463, 35 L.Ed.2d at 430 (mistrial may be declared to protect public's interest in fair trials designed to end in just judgments).

Petitioner claims that the trial court's concerns with counsel's health, whether the mistrial benefitted the defendant and the integrity of the system are of little or no weight in a constitutional analysis. In reaching his conclusion, petitioner relies on <u>Whitfield v. Warden of</u> Maryland House of <u>Corrections</u>, 486 F.2d 1118, 1123 (4th Cir. 1973), <u>cert. denied</u>, 419 U.S. 876, 95 S.Ct. 139, 42 L.Ed.2d 116 (1974) and <u>United States v. Jorn</u>, 400 U.S. 470, 91 S.Ct. 547, 556, 27 L.Ed.2d 543, 55 (1971) (plurality). Petitioner

misreads Whitfield. That case does not indicate that concern with defense counsel's health and the integrity of the system are to be given little weight. The case says nothing about concern for a lawyer's health. It indicates that concern for the integrity of the system (i.e., the ends of public justice) is extremely important. <u>Id.</u> at 1121. This was one of the trial judge's concerns here (T 613, 615). To the extent that the case holds that concern for the benefit of the defendant is of ïittle weight, the court in <u>Whitfield</u> misread <u>Jorn</u>.

Jorn did not hold that whether the mistrial benefitted the defendant was not important issue. Obviously, the question of benefit to the defendant is an integral part of the trial judge's equation in attempting to preserve the integrity of the system. The plurality opinion in Jorn merely held that there could be no automatic rule that held that if the action as taken benefitted the defendant, the abuse of discretion standard of review was not applicable. 27 L.Ed.2d at 555.

Decisions of the United States Supreme Court issued after <u>Whitfield</u> make this clear. In <u>Oreson v. Kennedy</u>, 456 U.S. 667, 676, 102 S.Ct. 2083, 72 L.Ed.2d 416, 425, n. 7 (1982), the Court quoted with approval from <u>Gori:</u>

> Where for reasons deemed compelling by the trial judge, who is best situated intelligently to make such a decision, the ends of substantial justice cannot be obtained without discontinuing the trial, a mistrial may be declared without the defendant's consent and even over his objection, and he may be

retried consistently with the Fifth Amendment,"

It seems entirely reasonable to expect, therefore, that appellate judges will continue to defer to the judgment of trial judges who are "on the scene" in this area and that they will not inexorably reach the same conclusion on a cold record at the appellate stage that they might if any one of them had been sitting **as** a trial judge.

In <u>Illinois v. Sommerville</u>, 410 U.S. 458, 93 S.Ct. 1066, 1069, 35 L.Ed.2d 425 (1975), a mistrial was declared when the State realized the indictment was defective for not alleging that the defendant intended to permanently deprive the owner of his property. 410 U.S. at 459, 35 L.Ed.2d at 428. The Seventh Circuit, relying on <u>Jorn</u>, found that a declaration over the defendant's objection precluded mistrial. 410 U.S. at 460, 35 L.Ed.2d at 429. The United States Supreme Court reversed, holding:

Our decision in <u>Jorn</u>, relied upon by the court below and respondent, does not support the opposite conclusion. While it is possible to excise various portions of the plurality opinion to support the result reached below, <u>divorcing the language from</u> <u>the facts of the case serves only to distort its</u> <u>holdings</u>. That opinion dealt with action by a <u>trial judge that can fairly be described as erratic</u> (emphasis supplied).

* *

The Court emphasized that the absence of any manifest need for a mistrial had deprived the defendant of his right to proceed before the first jury, but did not hold that that right may never be forced to yield, as in this case, to 'the public's interest in fair trials designed to end in just judgments.' The Court's opinion in <u>Jorn</u> is replete with approving references to Wade v. <u>Hunter</u>, <u>supra</u>, which latter case stated:

* * *

What has been said is enough to show that a <u>defendant's valued right to have his trial</u> <u>completed by a particular tribunal must in some</u> <u>instances be subordinated to the public's interest</u> <u>in fair trials designed to end in just judgments.</u> (emphasis in original).

410 U.S. 470, 35 L.Ed.2d 434.

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